I. INTRODUCTION 

Rick Holman and Brian Brady are co-owners of Wolf 

Creek Holdings, LLC ("Wolf Creek"), which owns a building 

leased to a television station in Spokane. The television station 

is owned by Mountain Broadcasting, LLC ("Mountain 

Broadcasting"), a company indirectly owned by Brady. After its 

several requests for relief from the unfairly high rent in the 

1993 Lease were rebuffed, Mountain Broadcasting notified Wolf 

Creek that it would not be renewing its 1998 Lease by a letter to 

Brady dated September 21, 2012 ("Non-Renewal Notice"). 

Thereafter, Mountain Broadcasting negotiated a new lease with 

Wolf Creek (through negotiations with Brady) ("New Lease"). 

Holman individually, and derivatively on behalf of Wolf 

Creek, brought this lawsuit against both Brady and Mountain 

Broadcasting, asserting five causes of action premised on 

allegations that (1) the Non-Renewal Notice was ineffective 

(meaning the original 1998 Lease is still in place) and/or (2) 

Brady lacked authority to execute the New Lease. Holman 

asserts that the Non-Renewal Notice was invalid because it was 

not sent via registered or certified mail and that Brady lacked 

authority under the Wolf Creek LLC Agreement to bind the 

company to the New Lease. Both contentions are founded on 
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erroneous readings of the expired 1998 Lease and WolfCreek 

LLC Agreement. 

Holman's derivative claims fail to satisfy CR 23.1, which 

sets forth the requirements for asserting claims derivatively on 

behalf of a limited liability company. It is undisputed that 

Holman did not comply with CR 23.1; therefore, the trial court 

erred in not dismissing his derivative claims. Holman's 

derivative action also fails because he impermissibly joined 

personal claims with his purported derivative claims, which 

created a fatal conflict of interest. 

The derivative claims against Mountain Broadcasting 

allege that the Non-Renewal Notice had to be sent to Wolf Creek 

via certified or registered mail. The 1998 Lease, however, 

required only timely written notice; it is not disputed this was 

sent to and received by Wolf Creek. The now-terminated lease 

provided that written notices, if sent via certified or registered 

United States mail, would be conclusively "deemed" delivered. 

It did not preclude other methods of delivery. The lower court 

erroneously treated this provision as a "requirement" that the 

notice must have been sent via certified or registered mail. The 

1998 Lease did not require notice by registered or certified mail. 

The undisputed evidence presented to the trial court established 

actual delivery. Because the Non-Renewal Notice was effective, 

the 1998 Lease did not automatically renew, and the trial court 
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committed reversible error in not granting summary judgment 

to the contrary. 

Holman also erroneously claims that Brady lacked 

authorization to enter into the New Lease. The Wolf Creek LLC 

Agreement specifically authorized either Holman or Brady to 

execute leases on Wolf Creek's behalf, so long as the terms were 

fair to Wolf Creek. Holman presented no evidence below, nor 

does he even contend, that the New Lease was unfair to Wolf 

Creek, although he does have a desire to continue with the 

grossly inflated lease rates under the now expired 1998 Lease. 

Nothing in the Wolf Creek LLC Agreement required Holman's 

consent to the New Lease or restricted Brady from acting on 

behalf of the Wolf Creek in this regard. The trial court erred in 

invalidating the New Lease because Holman did not consent to 

it. 

II. ASSIG NMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in not dismissing Holman's 

derivative claims against Mountain Broadcasting. 1 

2. The trial court erred in denying Brady and 

Mountain Broadcasting's Motion for Summary Judgment.2 

1 CP 153-155. 

2 CP 370-372. 
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3. The trial court erred in granting Holman's Motion 

for Partial Summary Judgment against Mountain 

Broadcasting.3 

4. The trial court erred in entering judgment against 

Mountain Broadcasting in favor of Holman personally.4 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIG NMENTS 
OF ERROR 

1. Whether CR 23.1 or RCW 25.15 sets forth the 

applicable standard for assessing if Holman can assert 

derivative claims against Mountain Broadcasting on behalf of 

WolfCreek. (Assignment of Error 1). 

2. Whether Holman's derivative claims fail where: 

a. it is undisputed that Holman did not comply 

with CR 23.1 because his Complaint did not contain a 

verified statement that his derivative action was not 

brought collusively to confer personal jurisdiction over 

Brady; 

b. Holman did not establish under CR 23.1 

that he could fairly and adequately represent the 

interests of Wolf Creek (and Brady) in a derivative action 

against Mountain Broadcasting; and 

3 CP 370-372. 

4 CP 385-387. 
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c. Holman created a conflict of interest by 

impermissibly joining personal claims against Brady and 

derivative claims against Mountain Broadcasting on 

behalf of Wolf Creek. 

(Assignment of Error 1). 

3. Whether the trial court erred in finding that 

Mountain Broadcasting's Non-Renewal Notice was required to 

be sent via certified or registered mail to be effective to cancel 

the lease between Mountain Broadcasting and Wolf Creek when 

the Lease Agreement did not impose that requirement and 

where it is undisputed that the Non-Renewal Notice was 

actually received by Wolf Creek. (Assignments of Error 2-3). 

4. Whether the trial court erred in finding that 

Mountain Broadcasting's Non-Renewal Notice was required to 

be delivered to Holman personally to be effective to cancel the 

lease between Mountain Broadcasting and Wolf Creek when the 

Lease Agreement did not impose that requirement and where it 

is undisputed that the Non-Renewal Notice was received by Wolf 

Creek. (Assignments of Error 2-3). 

5. Whether the Wolf Creek LLC Agreement 

authorized Brady, on behalf of Wolf Creek, to enter into the New 

Lease with Mountain Broadcasting. (Assignments of Error 2-3). 

6. Whether the trial court erred in entering judgment 

against Mountain Broadcasting in favor of Holman, personally, 
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instead of in favor of Wolf Creek where Holman has no personal 

claims. (Assignment of Error 4). 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. 	 Background facts. 

Rick Holman and Brian Brady are the co-owners of Wolf 

Creek LLC, each having a 50% member interest.5 Wolf Creek 

owns commercial real estate in Spokane, Washington, which it 

leases to Mountain Broadcasting, owner of Spokane's KAYU

TV.6 The sole member of Mountain Broadcasting is Northwest 

Broadcasting, Inc., which is owned by entities in which Brady 

has ownership interests. 7 

The initial term of the lease between Wolf Creek and 

Mountain Broadcasting was 15 years, commencing on 

January 12, 1998.8 The original lease ("1998 Lease") was to be 

automatically extended for successive 5-year terms "unless 

Tenant shall give notice to the Landlord at least ninety (90) days 

prior to the Extension Date that the Tenant elects that the term 

of this Lease not be extended."9 

5 CP 5·66 (Complaint at ~~ 1.2, 1.3, and 3.2). 


6 [d. (Complaint at ~~ 3.5 and 3.6). 


7 [d. (Complaint at ~~ 3.6 and 3.7), 


8 CP 187 (1998 Lease, Article II), 


9 [d. 
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Article XXIII of the 1998 Lease specified how notice was 

to be provided, stating that "[a]U notices or demands of any kind 

required or desired to be given by the Landlord or Tenant 

hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed delivered 48 

hours after depositing the notice or demand in the United States 

mail, certified or registered, postage prepaid, addressed to 

landlord or tenant respectively at the addresses set forth after 

their signature at the end of this Lease."lO Of note, there is no 

address listed under the Landlord's name at the end of the 1998 

Lease) 1 Brady was identified in the 1998 Lease under the 

"Landlord" signature block as the person to sign on behalf of 

Wolf Creek LLC; Holman was not.12 

It is undisputed that for years prior to the expiration of 

the original Lease term, Mountain Broadcasting had advised 

Wolf Creek that the lease rent (which under the 1998 Lease was 

increased each year without reference to local real estate market 

conditions) had reached an amount that was far in excess of 

market. For example, in a letter dated November 8,2005, Wolf 

Creek was advised that the lease rate "is completely out of step 

10 CP 208 (1998 Lease, Article XXIII). 

11 CP 211. 

12Id. 
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with comparable office rents on Spokane's South Hill."13 Again 

on March 19, 2009, more than three years before the 1998 Lease 

was set to expire, Mountain Broadcasting notified Wolf Creek 

that the lease rate was "completely out of sync with the current 

commercial market on Spokane's South HilL 14 In response, as it 

did every year, WolfCreek, acting through Holman, responded 

by raising the rent. 15 

As a consequence of these serial lease rate increases, by 

September 2012, Mountain Broadcast was paying $23.52/square 

foot on a triple net basis, and the lease rate was scheduled to 

increase to $24.35/square foot if the 1998 Lease was extended in 

2013.16 Based on Mountain Broadcasting's market surveys in 

2012, the market for similar property was a fraction of this 

priceY Had Mountain Broadcasting elected to renew the 1998 

Lease in 2013, the lease rate would have been about 300% above 

13 CP 216 170 (November 8,2005, letter). 

14 CP 219-220 (March 19, 2009, letter). 

15 CP 222 (December 9, 2008, letter); CP 223 (December 14, 2009, letter); CP 
224 (December 6, 2010, letter); and CP 225 (December 2, 2011 letter). Of 
note, there is no evidence that Holman sent any of these rent increase 
notices via registered or certified U.S. Mail. 

16 CP 178. 

17Id. 
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market. 18 Not surprisingly, Mountain Broadcasting was not 

interested in extending the lease at this rate. 

To prevent the automatic renewal of the 1998 Lease, 

Mountain Broadcasting was required to give written notice of its 

intent not to extend the lease at least 90 days before the 15th 

anniversary of the Lease. 19 As the lease commenced on 

January 12, 1998, written notice of non-renewal was required on 

or before October 12,2012. Given Mountain Broadcasting's 

dissatisfaction with the lease terms, it was not at all surprising 

that on September 20,2012, well within the time period for 

notice non-renewal set forth in the 1998 Lease, Mountain 

Broadcasting sent Brady of Wolf Creek a Non-Renewal Notice 

via overnight delivery.20 The Non-Renewal Notice was sent to 

Brady in his "position as a member of Wolf Creek Holdings of 

Spokane LLC," and stated: "This letter shall constitute notice 

that Mountain is electing that the term of the Lease not be 

extended as provided in said Article 11."21 

It is not disputed that Wolf Creek timely received the 

Non-Renewal Notice through Brady: Jon Rand, General 

18 Id., CP 178. 

19 CP 39 

20 CP 227 

21 CP 227 (September 21, 2012, letter); CP 172-176, and CP 178; and CP 284
291. 
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Manager of Mountain Broadcasting, testified that he authorized 

and directed Mountain Broadcasting's counsel (Fred Levy of 

Brown Rudnick in Washington, D.C.) to send the Non~Renewal 

Notice to Brady over a facsimile of his (Mr. Rand's) signature.22 

Diane M. Palacios, legal assistant to Mr. Levy, testified that on 

September 20, 2012,23 she sent the Non~Renewal Notice via 

Federal Express overnight delivery to Brady.24 Ms. Palacios 

received written confirmation from Federal Express that the 

envelope containing the Non-Renewal Notice was, in fact, 

delivered to Brady on September 21,2012, at 1:58 p.m., and had 

been signed for by "P Billingsley."25 

Pamela Billingsley, Brady's administrative assistant, 

confirmed she received a copy of the Non~Renewal Notice on 

behalf of Brady via overnight delivery on or about September 24, 

2012.26 Brady testified that he received the Non-Renewal 

Notice shortly after it was sent.27 What is more, Brady 

22 CP 268-283 and CP 254-264 (Deposition of Jon D. Rand, pages 96,97, 125). 


23 While the Non-Renewal Notice was sent on September 20, 2012, it is dated 

September 21,2012. Ms. Palacios testified that the letter was dated 

September 21, 2012, but was ready to be sent mid-day on September 20, 

2012. CP 285 (Palacios Decl. at ~ 4). 


24 CP 285 (Palacios Dec!. at ~~ 3-5). 


25 CP 285-286 (Palacios Dec!. at ~~ 6-7). 


26 CP 172 and 178. It should be noted that September 21,2012, was a Friday 

and September 24,2012, was a Monday. 


27 CP 182 (Brady Dec!. at ~ 7). 
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contemporaneously confirmed receipt of the Non-Renewal Notice 

via a return letter dated October 4, 2012, acknowledging, on 

behalf of Wolf Creek, that Mountain Broadcasting "was electing 

not to extend the terms of its Lease with Wolf Creek Holdings of 

Spokane, LLC."28 

After the 1998 Lease expired, Mountain Broadcasting and 

Wolf Creek entered into a New Lease.29 The New Lease was 

negotiated between Jon Rand of Mountain Broadcasting and 

Brady on behalf of Wolf Creek.30 Mountain Broadcasting 

originally proposed a new lease rate of $9/square foot for a three 

year term, which it claimed was "at the very high end of the 

rental market."31 In response, Brady (on behalf of Wolf Creek), 

acknowledged receipt of the Non-Renewal Notice, but indicated 

that $9/square foot was not an acceptable rate.32 Based on 

market data, Brady countered with a lease rate of $15/square 

foot for a three-year term, with annual CPI adjustments. 33 

On October 10, 2012, Rand (on behalf of Mountain 

Broadcasting), asserted that the proposed $15/square foot rate 

28 CP 229 (October 4, 2012, letter) and CP 13I. 


29 CP 9 (Complaint at , 3.14). 


30 CP 178, 131-133. 


31 CP 178. 


32 CP 131-133 (October 4, 2012 letter). 


33Id. 
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was still 200% of the comparable market properties.34 However, 

"To put these negotiations to bed," Mountain Broadcasting 

proposed a three year lease term at $14/square foot.35 As Brady 

notified Holman in November 2012, this $14/square foot rate in 

the New Lease "is more than 150% of the average market rate of 

approximately $8.30/sq. ft. which is reflected in the market 

survey."36 

Holman has never asserted that the terms of the New 

Lease are not fair to Wolf Creek, nor could he, as the new lease 

rate is still more than 150% above market. Rather, Holman 

desires to continue with the inflated lease rate under the expired 

1998 Lease, which would have been more than 300% above 

market if it was extended. Desiring to keep the above-market 

lease rates embodied in the 1998 Lease, Holman only claims 

that his consent was required on behalf of Wolf Creek to enter 

into the New Lease - a proposition that contradicts the 

unambiguous terms of Wolf Creek's LLC Agreement. 

B. Holman's Complaint. 

In February 2013, Holman, both individually and on 

behalf of Wolf Creek, brought this lawsuit against Brady and 

34 CP 134. 

35 CP 134. 

36 CP 124 and 127. 
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Mountain Broadcasting. In five separate causes of actions37, 

Holman claims that the Non-Renewal Notice and New Lease 

were invalid: 

First Cause ofAction:38 Holman alleges that the Non

Renewal Notice was ineffective because it was not sent to Wolf 

Creek via certified or registered mail and, therefore, the 1998 

Lease was automatically extended for an additional 5 years until 

January 11,2018. Holman claims that Mountain Broadcasting 

breached the extended term of the 1998 Lease, as it was not 

making payments thereunder, but instead was paying under the 

terms of the New Lease. 

Second Cause of Action:39 In the alternative, if the 

Non-Renewal Notice was proper, Holman claims that Brady 

lacked authority to bind Wolf Creek to the New Lease. It is 

alleged that Mountain Broadcasting is a Holdover Tenant under 

the 1998 Lease, and was in breach of the 1998 Lease by not 

making the required holdover payments. 

Third Cause of Action:4o Holman also alleges that 

Brady breached the Wolf Creek LLC Agreement "by unilaterally 

accepting a deficient notice of non-renewal of the January 12, 

37 CP 5-66 (Complaint). 


38 CP 10-11. 


39 CP 11-12. 


40 CP 12. 
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1998 Lease Agreement from Mountain Broadcasting and by 

entering into a new Lease Agreement with Mountain 

Broadcasting without disclosing the Lease Agreement terms to 

Holman and without obtaining his consent." Holman also 

alleges that Brady further breached the Wolf Creek LLC 

Agreement "by directing and participating in Mountain's breach 

of the existing Lease Agreement for defendant Brady's own 

personal gain."41 

Fourth Cause of Action:42 Holman further alleges that 

Brady breached his implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing under the Wolf Creek LLC Agreement. The allegations 

supporting this cause of action are identical to those supporting 

the Third Cause ofAction quoted above. 

Fifth Cause of Action:43 Holman's final allegation is 

that Brady breached his fiduciary duties to Wolf Creek and 

Holman. The allegations in the Complaint supporting this cause 

of action are identical to those supporting the Third and Fourth 

Causes ofAction quoted above. 

41Id. 

42 CP 13. 

43 CP 14. 
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c. 	 Procedural history. 

Brady and Mountain Broadcasting moved to dismiss 

Holman's Complaint based on the lack of personal jurisdiction 

over Brady (a resident of Michigan), Holman's failure to comply 

with the rules governing pleading derivative claims (CR 23.1), 

and Holman's improper joinder of personal claims against Brady 

and derivative claims on behalf of Mountain Broadcasting.44 

The trial court denied this motion, finding it had personal 

jurisdiction over Brady and that Holman's derivative claims and 

personal claims were appropriate.45 

Thereafter, Brady filed a summary judgment motion 

seeking to dismiss all claims in Holman's Complaint based on 

undisputed evidence that the Non-Renewal Notice was effective 

and that Brady was authorized to enter the New Lease with 

Mountain Broadcasting.46 Holman filed a cross-motion for 

partial summary judgment, arguing the Non-Renewal Notice 

was ineffective in preventing the 1998 Lease from automatically 

renewing, and that Brady lacked authority to enter into the New 

Lease on behalf of Wolf Creek.47 The trial court denied Brady's 

motion and granted Holman's motion, finding that Mountain 

44 CP 79-89. 

45 CP 153-155. 

46 CP 292-308. 

47 CP 311-336. 
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Broadcasting breached the 1998 Lease "for the failure to give 

timely notice to Wolf Creek by certified or registered mail of its 

intent not to renew the Lease Agreement, and because notice 

was not sent to the Landlord" (First Cause of Action) and that 

Brady breached the Wolf Creek LLC Agreement (Third Cause of 

Action) by "unilaterally accepting a deficient notice of non

renewal of Lease Agreement from Mountain, and by entering 

into a new Lease Agreement with Mountain without disclosing 

the Lease Agreement terms to Mr. Holman and without 

obtaining his consent."48 

Brady and Mountain sought discretionary review of the 

trial court's summary judgment ruling.49 Subsequently, the 

trial court entered a judgment against Mountain Broadcasting 

in favor of Holman and Wolf Creek on his claim for attorney 

fees, costs and interest ("Judgment").5o On the same date, the 

trial court entered an order granting CR 54(b) Certification and 

Entry of Final Judgment as to Mountain Broadcasting, LLC on 

Plaintiffs' Attorney's Fees and Costs and Interest, with the issue 

of unpaid rent to Wolf Creek reserved to a later date.51 Brady 

48 CP 370·372. 

49 CP 373·378. 

50 CP 385·387. 

51 CP 379·384. 
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and Mountain Broadcasting then timely filed a Notice of Appeal 

of the Judgment against Mountain Broadcasting.52 

The parties then stipulated to entry of an order staying 

the remaining proceedings pending appellate review, and that 

Holman would dismiss his breach of fiduciary claim against 

Brady without prejudice, and would not refile the claim except 

under specified conditions. 53 The parties also agreed to dissolve 

Wolf Creek upon entry of final judgment in this matter.54 

Pursuant to that stipulation, the parties fued a Stipulated 

Motion and Order of Dismissal of Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

Claim Without Prejudice, which was entered by the trial court.55 

The trial court then granted the parties' Stipulated Motion to 

Stay Proceedings pending appellate review.56 

v. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The trial court erred in failing to dismiss Holman's 

Complaint for three primary reasons. First, Holman lacked 

standing to assert derivative claims on behalf of Wolf Creek 

under CR 23.1, and impermissibly joined with his derivative 

claims, personal claims against Brady. Second, Mountain 

52 CP 388-392 (CP 393·398 - Notice of Supersedeas Bond). 


53 CP 399·400. 


54 ld. at CP 400. 


55 CP 401-402. 


56 CP 403·404. 
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Broadcasting's Non-Renewal Notice was effective to terminate 

the 1998 Lease. Third, Brady possessed the authority under the

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