No. 331148

# WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

RICK A. HOLMAN, individually, and on behalf of WOLF CREEK HOLDINGS OF SPOKANE LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondent/Plaintiff,

VS.

BRIAN W. BRADY and MOUNTAIN BROADCASTING, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Appellants/Defendants.

#### RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE BRIEF

KEVIN J. CURTIS, WSBA No. 12085 KAMMI MENCKE SMITH, WSBA No. 34911 WINSTON & CASHATT, LAWYERS 601 W. Riverside, Ste. 1900 Spokane, WA 99201 Telephone: (509) 838-6131

Attorneys for Respondent

###

#### 1. Introduction.

It is undisputed that Wolf Creek Holdings of Spokane, LLC (Wolf Creek) has two members: Brian Brady and Rick Holman. Wolf Creek's sole asset is a commercial building uniquely suited and established as a television station, which Mountain Broadcasting, LLC (Mountain) leased; Mountain is wholly controlled by Brian Brady and his other entities. Mountain mailed a purported Notice of Termination of Lease to Brady at one of his other entities, despite all previous correspondence to Wolf Creek regarding the Lease having been transmitted to **both** Brady and Holman, and despite the notice provision which "deemed" delivery of the Notice complete only upon "certified or registered mail."

The Notice of Termination was sent only to Brady **purposefully** by Mountain's CEO (Brady's employee) to deprive Holman of the notice and allow Mountain to negotiate and execute a new lease on terms more favorable to Mountain (Brady's entity) and less favorable to Wolf Creek, without the knowledge of or consent of Holman (the only other member of Wolf Creek). The trial court found that the Lease required certified or registered Notice of Termination be sent to the "Landlord", Wolf Creek, which was not accomplished as a matter of law by sending a letter only to Brady under the undisputed circumstances.

While Appellants seek to focus on what they claim to be a narrow technical reading of the necessity for registered or certified mail, or whether all members of an LLC are always entitled to notice, the trial court properly analyzed the entirety of the undisputed facts **presented** here to find that Mountain's notice was not properly conveyed to the Landlord when Mountain intentionally deprived one member of a two member LLC of the Notice to enable it to secretly negotiate new terms with its own controlling owner. The trial court found that it was undisputed Mountain's actions were designed to deprive the Landlord of Notice by sending it only to Brady.

Moreover, the terms of the LLC Agreement prohibited any one member from independently negotiating a new Lease of the LLC's sole asset, and the Brady negotiated lease is invalid. The trial court properly found that Brady unilaterally accepted a deficient notice of non-renewal of the Lease from Mountain and entered into the new Lease without disclosing the Lease Agreement Terms to Mr. Holman or obtaining his consent, thereby breaching the LLC Agreement.

And contrary to Appellants' claim, the LLC Agreement does **not** establish "fairness" of the individual Brady transaction as a basis for authority to individually deal. While there exists no evidence in the record of the fairness of the rent in the new Lease, it is irrelevant; the Wolf Creek

LLC Agreement does not provide any carte blanche basis for each LLC member to individually negotiate new leases. The standard of fairness in the LLC Agreement is related instead to potential bases to invalidate transactions **after** the LLC agrees to them (by proper authority of **both** members). This provision in no way applied to allow Brady to individually negotiate a new lease of Wolf Creek LLC's only asset.

Procedurally, Appellants' inclusion of the trial court's denial of Appellants' motion to dismiss the Wolf Creek derivative claims brought by Holman is not properly before this court. The Appellants brought the motion based on: (1) the alleged lack of jurisdiction over Brady; and (2) the alleged impropriety of the derivative claims of Wolf Creek because the Complaint was not verified under CR 23.1, and because the claims were combined with Holman's individual claims. The denial of defendants' motion to dismiss was entered over one and one-half years before the partial summary judgment. It was not certified as final in the trial court's CR 54(b) certification, and was not listed in the Notice of Appeal. Now the Appellants glean one of the rulings from the original motion to dismiss - - the propriety of the derivative claims - - and make new arguments along with their original arguments in support of the dismissal. However, the Appellants cannot pick and choose various

interlocutory rulings which they claim "inhere" in the partial summary judgment on unrelated lease issues.

Irrespective, the motion to dismiss was properly denied because Wolf Creek has claims against Mountain for its failed attempt to deprive it of Notice of Termination, and payment of rent at a reduced rate under an invalid new lease, which Brady did not pursue or consent to pursue on behalf of Wolf Creek. Only Holman expended funds to protect the rental value Wolf Creek was entitled to, and Holman was entitled to pursue that derivative claim and to recover the fees he expended in pursuit.

Under the relevant undisputed facts, which Appellants chose to either omit or downplay, there was no legal error committed by the trial court in granting partial summary judgment finding that the Notice of Termination was not properly provided as a matter of law, and that Brady had no authority to negotiate a new lease.

#### 2. Issues Presented.

2.1 Mountain mailed, via Fed. Ex., a Notice of Termination of its lease to its own controlling owner Brian Brady at Northwest Broadcasting, Inc. It did so specifically for the purpose of depriving Rick Holman, the only other member of the Landlord Wolf Creek of notice, so that Mountain could "self deal" with its owner Brady to negotiate a drastically reduced lease price, despite the fact that all previous

correspondence had gone to both Brady and Holman in relation to the Wolf Creek/Mountain lease. The Lease required that notice be sent to the "Landlord" Wolf Creek, which "shall be deemed" received when sent certified or registered. Did the trial court err in ruling that the undisputed facts and law established that Mountain had breached its obligation under the terms of the Lease to provide written notice to the Landlord via certified or registered mail?

- 2.2 The Wolf Creek, LLC Agreement expressly provided that no member had the exclusive authority to make independent management decisions, and that only "all members" shall have the authority to obligate or bind the Company. Brady independently negotiated a new lease of Wolf Creek's only asset after purposefully insuring the other LLC member, Holman, was not informed of the negotiations or lease. Did Brady breach the LLC Agreement because he lacked authority to negotiate and enter into the new lease?
- 2.3 The trial court denied defendants' motion to dismiss over a year and a half before a partial summary judgment was granted. The motion to dismiss was based on both alleged lack of jurisdiction over Brady and improper derivative claims. The order on the motion to dismiss was not addressed in the cross-motions for partial summary judgment, nor in the trial court's rulings. The trial court certified as final the partial

summary judgment under CR 54(b), again not mentioning the order denying the motion to dismiss. The Court of Appeals found the trial court's certification on the partial summary judgment proper, and Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal as to the "Summary Judgment" and "all orders that inhere in that judgment"; in their brief Appellants raise new arguments and issues as to the derivative action. Is the portion of the order denying the motion to dismiss the derivative claims included in the appeal of the partial summary judgment?

2.4 LLC member Holman brought this derivative suit on behalf of Wolf Creek, LLC to prevent tenant Mountain from enforcing a new lease negotiated with LLC member Brian Brady, which drastically reduced the rent. Holman paid the necessary attorney fees out of his own account to pursue and prevail on that action. Brady, the other LLC member, participated in the negotiation of the new lease, which was a breach of Mountain's existing lease, and did not contribute to the payment of fees to pursue Mountain's breach. Should attorney fees be awarded individually to Holman to recover the amounts expended on behalf of Wolf Creek?

#### 3. Statement of the Case.

#### 3.1 Undisputed Facts.

Wolf Creek, LLC has two members: Rick Holman and Brian Brady. (CP 37-38) Wolf Creek had no "managing member", and its LLC agreement required joint decision making. (CP 16-38) Wolf Creek's sole asset is a building utilized as a television station, which it leased to Mountain in 1998. (Ex. F to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_\_)\text{\text{\text{l}}} Mountain LLC similarly has two members: Northwest Broadcasting, Inc., and Northwest Broadcasting LP, which are both owned and controlled by Brian Brady, and to which he undisputedly serves as the President. (Exs. A, B, C, E to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_\_) (Ex. D to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_\_) (Rand Dep., pp. 1, 12-14, 19-21, 24, 40) By owning and operating these two member companies, Brady effectively owns and controls Mountain.

Likewise, Jon Rand is the Vice President/COO of all the Brady entities other than Wolf Creek, including Northwest Broadcasting, Inc., Mountain, and other divisions of the company. (Ex. D to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_) (Rand Dep., p. 13) Rand has always reported

Respondent's Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers was filed 11/10/15; Respondent will supplement this brief with the designation of Clerks' Papers as soon as it is received.

directly to Brian Brady. (Ex. D to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_\_) (Rand Dep., p. 21) In fact, Rand had to obtain Brady's approval to enter in to any lease on behalf of Mountain, or to terminate a Mountain lease. (Ex. D to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_\_) (Rand Dep., pp. 50-51)

In January 1998, Mountain and Wolf Creek entered into a 15-year Lease; the Lease would automatically renew for 5-year terms unless a Notice of Non-Renewal was properly given. (Ex. F to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP ) The notice requirement in the Lease states:

<u>Article XXIII – Notices</u>. All notices or demands of any kind required or desired to be given by Landlord or Tenant hereunder shall be in writing **and** shall be deemed delivered 48 hours after deposition the notice or demand in the United States mail, certified or registered, postage prepaid, **addressed to Landlord** or Tenant respectively at the addresses set forth after their signature at the end of this Lease. (Emphasis added)

(<u>Id.</u>, CP 60) The signature block at the end of the Lease identified the Landlord: "Wolf Creek Holdings, LLC," with a "by" signature line which had Brady's name typed under the line; an amendment to the Lease the following year similarly identified the Landlord as "Wolf Creek Holdings, LLC", and had a "by" signature line with Holman's name typed under it. (CP 63, 65-66)

At all times, Rand of Mountain knew that Holman was a member of Wolf Creek. (Ex. D to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP

(Rand Dep., p. 80) As a member of Wolf Creek, Holman was required to be communicated with regarding the Lease Agreement. Although there is no address listed under the Landlord's name at the end of the Lease (or the Amendment), it is undisputed that prior lease related communication and information were regularly sent by Mountain Broadcasting, LLC and its agents to Holman at this address in California, and in turn, that lease communications and information had been sent by Holman (on behalf of Wolf Creek) to Mountain. (Exs. G, H, I to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_)

Specifically, on November 8, 2005, and again on March 19, 2009, Rand, COO of Mountain Broadcasting/KAYU, sent letters addressed to **both** Holman in California, and Brady in Michigan. (CP 216-217, 219-220) In fact, Appellants cite these exact letters as proof that Mountain had previously advised Wolf Creek that the lease rate was unacceptable. (See, Appellants' Brief, pp. 7-8)<sup>2</sup> Mountain clearly appreciated and recognized the necessity to apprise "the landlord" through Brady **and** Holman. Both of these letters addressed the Lease Agreement between Mountain and Wolf Creek. However, the November 2005 letter from Rand alleges that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It should also be noted that despite Appellants' assertion that Mountain advised Wolf Creek that it was unhappy with the rental amount "for years," there were exactly **two letters**, one in 2005 and one in 2009. (See, Appellants' Brief, pp. 7-8)

the reasonable rent for the building would be \$14-\$16 per square foot (or approximately \$12,500 - \$14,300 a month), and the March 2009 letter from Rand alleges that the reasonable monthly rent would be between \$13,583.25 and \$15,373.58.<sup>3</sup> (CP 216-217; 219-220) In the March 2009 letter, Rand specifically requested to "see a written response from both of you prior to March 31, 2009, with a copy to the other partner." (CP 220)

Mountain was also well aware of Holman's continual membership and involvement in Wolf Creek because Holman (on behalf of Wolf Creek and with copies to Brady) sent annual rent calculation and reminder letters to Mountain, including as recently as December 2010 and December 2011. (Ex. I to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_) Rand recalls generally seeing these annual rent increase notices from Holman and knowing that he still had an interest in Wolf Creek. (Ex. D to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_) (Rand Dep., pp. 116-117) Rand also knew of Holman's continued membership and involvement in Wolf Creek, as he knew that Mountain's attorney Fred Levy (who also drafted the Wolf Creek, LLC Agreement and acts as attorney for the Brady entities) is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This is important because the new Lease rate negotiated by Brady and Mountain is less than both of these previous proposals by Mountain.

Holman's brother-in-law. (Ex. D to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_) (Rand Dep., pp. 42-43)

And yet on September 2012, for the first time Mountain **chose** not to communicate with Holman regarding the Notice of Non-renewal of the Lease Agreement, as well as the ongoing negotiations of a new lease. Instead, Mountain, through Rand, communicated only with Brady (his employer); this notice was not addressed to the Landlord but instead addressed to "Mr. Brian Brady, President, Northwest Broadcasting, Inc." (CP 128) It was not sent registered or certified, but was instead sent via overnight Federal Express. (Id.; Appellants' Brief, p. 10)

Brady then proceeded to negotiate a lease without providing any notice to Holman regarding receipt of the non-renewal or negotiations regarding a new lease term. Under the Wolf Creek, LLC Agreement, Brady did not have the authority to unilaterally act in this manner. (CP 16-38)

Rand and Brady consciously made the decision not to communicate the Lease termination and new lease negotiations with Holman to insure that Brady could unilaterally get his company Mountain a reduced lease rental amount from Wolf Creek; this self-dealing insured the lease reduction went into Brady's pocket as the owner of Mountain as opposed to rent paid to Wolf Creek which Brady had to share 50/50 with

Holman. Rand admitted that he was avoiding notice to Holman to insure that Mountain obtained the reduced rent, not because he believed it to be unnecessary under the terms of the Lease. Rand testified that "as far as I was concerned, communicating with Rick Holman was pointless" (Ex. D to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_) (Rand Dep., p. 95), "I was more inclined to not send it to him because he had never chosen to respond or communicate with me on any level, including sending notices and it seemed pointless to me" (CP 274), and that he "had never seen any evidence of Holman...being reasonable about renegotiating the lease." (Ex. D to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_) (Rand Dep., p. 151)

Thus, Appellants' assertion that Brady received the Notice of Non-Renewal sent to him (which is not disputed), and that he turned around and confirmed to Mountain (i.e. himself), that he was aware that Mountain (himself) was not extending the terms of the Lease, is neither disputed nor relevant to the court's decision below. The parties thus did not dispute factually what occurred here, (rendering summary judgment proper); they differed on the effect of Mountain/Brady's decision to avoid sending Notice of Termination to Wolf Creek to both Holman and Brady and whether that breached the requirements under the Lease.

Holman's first notice of any termination of the old lease, and the new negotiations, came in a letter from Brady on November 30, 2012. (Ex. W to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_) Holman immediately responded to Rand at Mountain (and cc'ing Brady), notifying him that the termination notice should have come to both Holman and Brady, and that Brady had no authority to independently negotiate and agree to new Lease terms. Holman's objections were ignored and Mountain and Brady signed the new Lease on or about January 10, 2013.<sup>4</sup> (Exs. V and W to R. Holman Decl. filed 11/7/14, Supp. CP \_\_) This lawsuit followed.

#### 3.2 Procedure.

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